FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/29/2017 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No.	
Court of Appeals	No. 759060

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GLENN R. OAKES and CINDY R. OAKES,

Appellants,

v.

THE SUMMIT HOMEOWNER'S ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of Washington for King County No. 15-2-21766-6 SEA Honorable Palmer Robinson

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Corey Evan Parker 1275 12th Avenue NW, Suite 1B Issaquah, WA 98027 Ph: 425-221-2195

Fax: 1-877-802-8580 WSBA No. 40006 Attorney for Appellants

II. INTRODUCTION
III. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT
IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW2
V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 8
A. Under CR 60(b)(5) and RCW 4.28.080(16), The Court of Appeals' Review was Limited to Determining Whether Substantial Evidence Supported the Trial Court's Determination that The Oakes Did Not Present Clear and Convincing Evidence of Improper Service. The Trial Court Failed to Make That Finding and the Court of Appeals Erred When it did not Reverse the Trial Court's Ruling.
B. The Trial Court Failed to Make the Required Findings to Deny a Motion to Vacate Under CR 60(b)(1)
C. This Court of Appeals' Reliance On Due Diligence Alone Is Misplaced Without a Determination of When Mr. and Ms. Oakes Were Notified of the Default Judgment. The Oakes Exercised Due Diligence After Learning of the Default Judgment in March and Moving to Vacate it in July
D. The Trial Court and Court of Appeals' Failure to Account for The Oakes' Pro Se Status Was an Abuse of Discretion or, At A Minimum Should Tilt Equitable Considerations Toward Reversal of the Trial Court's Denial of the Motion to Vacate the Default Judgment
VII. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Akhavuz v. Moody, 178 Wash.App. 526, 534-35, 315 P.3d 572 (2013) 15
Capital One Bank (USA), N.A. v. Koplitz, 186 Wash. App. 1012, No.
72764-8-I (March 2, 2015)
citing Hull v. Vining, 17 Wash. 352, 49 P. 537 (1897)
Dolan v. King County, 172 Wn. 2d 299, 310, 258 P.3d 20 (2011) 6
Enron Oil Corp. v. Diakuhara, 10 F.3d 90, 96 (2d Cir. 1993)
Goettemoeller v. Twist, 161 Wn.App. 103, 107, 253 P.3d 405 (2011) 10
Ha v. Signal Elec., Inc., 182 Wash.App. 436, 449, 332 P.3d 991
(2014)
Haines v. Kerner, 404 U.S. 519, 520, 92 S.Ct. 594, 595, 30 L.Ed.2d 652
(1972)
In re Marriage of Markowski, 50 Wash.App. 633, 635–36, 749 P.2d 754
(1988)
Lakewest Condo. Owners Ass'n v. Tokio Marine, 156 Wash. App. 1016. 10
Leen v. Demopolis, 62 Wash.App. 473, 478, 815 P.2d 269 (1991) 10
Luckett v. Boeing Co., 98 Wash. App. 307, 312, 989 P.2d 1144, 1147
(1999)
Luckett v. Boeing Co., 98 Wn. App. 207, 313, 989 P2d 1144 (1999) 7
Mid-City Materials, Inc. v. Heater Beaters Custom Fireplaces, 36
Wash.App. 480, 674 P.2d 1271 (1984)
Morin v. Burris, 160 Wash.2d 745, 754, 161 P.3d 956 (2007)
Painter v. Olney, 37 Wash.App. 424, 427, 680 P.2d 1066 (1984)
Rosander v. Nightrunners Transp., Ltd., 147 Wash.App. 392, 408, 196
P.3d 711 (2008).

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases (Cont'd)
Roth v. Nash, 19 Wash.2d 731, 144 P.2d 271 (1943)
Sacottee Const., Inc. v. Nat'l Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 143 Wn. App. 410,
418, 177 P.3d 1147 (2008)
Shepard Ambulance, Inc. v. Helsell, Fetterman, Martin, Todd &
Hokanson, 95 Wash.App. 231, 239, 974 P.2d 1275 (1999)
Suburban Janitorial Servs. v. Clarke American, 72 Wash.App. 302, 308,
863 P.2d 1377 (1993)
United v. Pac. Ins. Co. v. Discount Co., 15 Wn. App. 559, 562, 550 P.2d
699 (1976)
VanderStoep v. Guthrie, 402 P.3d 883, 890 (2017)
White v. Holm, 73 Wn.2d 348, 438 P.2d 581
(1968)
Statutes
CR 55
CR 55(b)
CR 55(c)(1)
CR 60(b)
CR 60(b)(1)
CR 60(b)(5)

I. IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTY

Petitioners, Glenn R. Oakes and Cindy R. Oakes, (collectively, the "Oakes"), ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the ruling of the trial court that the default judgment entered against the Oakes was valid.

II. INTRODUCTION

In its Opinion, the Court of Appeals cites *Sacotte Const.*, *Inc. v.*Nat'l Fire & Marine Ins. Co. 143 Wn. App. 410, 418, 177 P.3d 1147

(2008) to articulate the two primary and two secondary factors which must be shown by the moving party to set aside a default judgment as required by CR60(b). The Court of Appeals states in its Opinion that the trial court made "oral findings," and therefore they find no error with the lack of findings that the Oakes took issue with in their briefing. See Opinion at 8.

However, the Court of Appeals is silent in its Opinion about whether there were actual findings about factors a court is required to analyze pursuant to CR 60(b). The trial record indicates clearly that these factors were not analyzed. Instead the trial court came to a cursory conclusion without making the necessary factual findings.

The Court of Appeals has consistently held that with respect to motions to vacate default judgments, the trial court "must enter the

necessary factual findings to support its conclusion that the defendant has either proved by clear and convincing evidence that it was not properly served or has failed to so prove." Lakewest Condo. Owners Ass'n v. Tokio Marine, 156 Wash. App. 1016, at 5.

The Court of Appeals rendered its Opinion in this matter without the necessary factual findings from the trial court. Allowing this Opinion to stand will create precedent in default judgment cases that a trial court can simply make conclusory statements without the necessary factual findings to support its conclusions. Such precedent would be contrary to existing law that mandates the trial court to make necessary factual findings.

III. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

The Oakes seek this Court's review of the decision of the Court of Appeals of the State of Washington, unpublished opinion, *The Summit Homeowners Association v. Glen and Cindy Oakes*, No. 75906-0-I, (Wash. Ct. App. October 2, 2017). A true copy of the Court of Appeals, Division I of the State of Washington dated October 2, 2017 is appended hereto in the Appendix.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals held that the trial record contains oral findings, but is silent as to whether the trial court applied the necessary

factual findings based on the four factors proscribed by the *White v. Holm* test and CR 60 (b). In the absence of the required factual findings, is reversal required because appellate courts are simply not in a position either to take evidence or to weigh contested evidence and make factual determinations?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 4, 2015, the Association filed its Complaint against the Oakes for declaratory relief, injunctive relief, damages, and attorney's fees. CP at 1-16. On September 9, 2015, the process server filled out an affidavit of service indicating that he served Mr. Oakes with the Complaint on September 7, 2016. CP at 17-18. A little over a month later, the trial court entered a default judgment against the Oakes in the amount of \$24,967.24 ("Default Judgment"). CP at 255-62.

On March 16, 2016, the Oakes were served a foreclosure complaint referencing the Default Judgment. The Oakes immediately appeared in and defended against the foreclosure action.

On July 22, 2016, the Oakes, proceeding *pro se*, filed a Motion to Vacate Default Judgment under CR 60(b)(5) (void judgment) and CR 60(b)(1)(excusable neglect). CP at 422-46. In support of the Motion to Vacate Default, the Oakes also filed two supporting affidavits. CP at 266-84; 285-97. Therein, the *pro se* litigants included their declarations and

numerous documents in support of improper service of process, and of at least three meritorious defenses to their liability and to the damages alleged in the Complaint against them. CP at 422-46. The *pro se* Motion and Affidavits also alleged counterclaims for trespass and property damage. *See*, *e.g.*, CP at 434. In its Response to the Motion, the Association included three fact witness declarations and over 200 pages of exhibits.

On August 14, 2016 and September 9, 2016, the trial court held hearings on the Motion to Vacate Default and made its ruling on the record on September 9, 2016. RP 1-51.

At the hearings, Mr. Oakes, proceeding *pro se*, testified and examined Ms. Oakes and the process server without counsel. The trial court's ruling and rationale are limited to three (3) pages of the hearing transcript. RP at 49-51. Nowhere in the transcript does the court account for the Oakes' *pro se* status.

After noting it had listened to the testimony of Mr. Oakes and the process server, the court concluded as follows:

...everybody agrees he [the process server] came to your house on that morning, he got out of the car.... that he identified himself as a process server, said he had legal papers for you, tried to give you the legal papers, which—and you left to go inside, and that he left the legal papers outside.

So I find, weighing the credibility of the witnesses, that in fact you were served with a copy of the summons.

RP at 49-50. Contrary to the court's comments above, the Oakes never did concede that the process server identified himself. They testified that the process server never said he had papers to serve and never tried to give either of the Oakes any papers. While this Court and the Court of Appeals do not make credibility determinations, the fatal flaw here is the *court did not rule or make any findings relating to the parties' evidentiary burdens under CR* 60(b)(5), whether they had met those burdens, or whether specifically, the Oakes presented sufficient evidence of improper service.

Immediately thereafter, as to the CR 60(b)(1) relief requested by the Oakes, the trial court concluded that:

there wasn't really reasonable diligence to get that order set aside—or to get the order of default set aside and the default judgment set aside.

And ... I'm not finding a meritorious defense to the fact that the money was owed and the fees were incurred.

RP at 50-51.

The trial court did not make any of the following findings or determinations: whether the Oakes had any meritorious defenses to the calculation of damages; whether the Oakes failed to appear in the action due to mistake, neglect, inadvertence, excusable or inexcusable neglect; or whether setting aside the default would prejudice the Association. Further,

the trial court did not make findings or rulings as to whether the Oakes had met their burden under CR 60(b)(1). The trial court did not examine the factors required to rule on a CR 60(b)(1) motion. For example, the court did not determine whether the Oakes were unable to present a *prima facie* showing of a meritorious defense, or a strong and conclusive defense.

Thereafter, the notice of appeal was timely filed by the Oakes, again proceeding *pro se*. After the briefing schedule, the Court of Appeals entered its opinion on October 2, 2017 ("Opinion").

As to whether the Oakes met their burden under CR 60(b)(5), the Court of Appeals first cited to *Dolan v. King County*, 172 Wn. 2d 299, 310, 258 P.3d 20 (2011) in support of its standard of review on appeal, "the substantial evidence standard." *See* Opinion at 3. The Court stated that the "essential issue on appeal is whether there was substantial evidence before the trial court to support its conclusion that service of process was valid under RCW 4.28.080(16)". *See* Opinion at 5. Relying on *United v. Pac. Ins. Co. v. Discount Co.*, 15 Wn. App. 559, 562, 550 P.2d 699 (1976), the Court of Appeals quoted the trial court's findings of fact relating to service to hold that "[s]ervice of process was sufficient under RCW 4.28.080(16). The trial court properly denied the motion to vacate on the grounds of sufficient service of process." *See* Opinion at 6. No finding of fact or conclusions of law were made relating to the

sufficiency of the Oakes' evidence or the parties' burdens' under CR 60(b)(5).

As to the issue of relief under CR 60(b)(1), the Court of Appeals also referenced *United*, 15 Wn. App at 562 this time, to support the standard of review under this rule, abuse of discretion. *See* Opinion at 7. Relying on *Sacottee Const.*, *Inc. v. Nat'l Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 143 Wn. App. 410, 418, 177 P.3d 1147 (2008), the Court of Appeals reasoned as follows:

When considering whether to vacate a default judgment, courts consider whether the default party has shown (1) that there is substantial evidence to support at least a prima facie defense to the claim asserted, (2) that its failure to appeal was occasioned by mistake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect, or that there was irregularity in obtaining the judgment, (3) that the party acted with due diligence after receiving notice that the default was entered, and (4) whether substantial hardship would result to the plaintiff if the judgment were set aside.

See Opinion at 7. The Court of Appeals noted the trial court's refusal to vacate the default after finding that the Oakes did not act with due diligence to set aside the default order since they were served with the Complaint on September 7, 2015, the court entered default October 7, 2015, and the Oakes filed the Motion to Vacate on July 22, 2016. See Opinion at 7-8. Citing to Luckett v. Boeing Co., 98 Wn. App. 207, 313, 989 P2d 1144 (1999), the Court reasons that it has found no abuse of

discretion where the moving party fails to put forth any good reason for delaying to bring a motion to vacate. *See* Opinion at 8. Accordingly, it finds the trial court here did not abuse its discretion. *See* Opinion at 8.

The Court of Appeals found no error in the trial court's limited oral findings at the hearing on the Motion to Vacate Default despite not making the necessary factual findings. *See* Opinion at 8. Finally, the Court of Appeals granted the Association's request for prevailing party attorneys' fees. *See* Opinion at 8-9.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (2) because the Court of Appeals' acceptance of limited oral findings that fail to make necessary factual findings as required by CR 60 for setting aside a default judgment conflicts with *White v. Holm* and its progeny.

Default judgments are generally disfavored in Washington because the courts "prefer to give parties their day in court and have controversies determined on their merits." *Morin v. Burris*, 160 Wash.2d 745, 754, 161 P.3d 956 (2007). The policy of disfavoring default judgments is constrained by CR 55 and a default judgment may be entered when parties fail to appear. CR 55(b). However, CR 55 also provides that "if a judgment by default has been entered, [the trial court] may likewise set it aside in accordance with CR 60(b)." CR 55(c)(1). CR 60(b) provides, in relevant part:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) Mistakes, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect or irregularity in obtaining a judgment or order;

...

(5) The judgment is void;

...

(11) Any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment.

The motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for reasons (1), (2), or (3) not more than 1 year after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken.

A. Under CR 60(b)(5) and RCW 4.28.080(16), The Court of Appeals' Review was Limited to Determining Whether Substantial Evidence Supported the Trial Court's Determination that The Oakes Did Not Present Clear and Convincing Evidence of Improper Service. The Trial Court Failed to Make That Finding and the Court of Appeals Erred When it did not Reverse the Trial Court's Ruling.

"Proper service of the summons and complaint is essential to invoke personal jurisdiction over a party, and a default judgment entered without proper jurisdiction is void." *In re Marriage of Markowski*, 50 Wash.App. 633, 635–36, 749 P.2d 754 (1988) (citing *Mid–City Materials, Inc. v. Heater Beaters Custom Fireplaces*, 36 Wash.App. 480, 674 P.2d 1271 (1984)). Where the parties against whom the judgment was entered were improperly served with the complaint and summons, the judgment is void due to lack of personal jurisdiction. *See Painter v. Olney*, 37 Wash.App. 424, 427, 680 P.2d 1066 (1984). Trial courts have a

nondiscretionary duty to grant relief from default judgments that are entered by courts without personal jurisdiction. *Capital One Bank (USA)*, *N.A. v. Koplitz*, 186 Wash. App. 1012, No. 72764-8-I (March 2, 2015)(citing to *Leen v. Demopolis*, 62 Wash.App. 473, 478, 815 P.2d 269 (1991); *Markowski*, 50 Wash.App. at 635). Whether service of process was proper is a question of law that the appellate court reviews de novo. *Goettemoeller v. Twist*, 161 Wn.App. 103, 107, 253 P.3d 405 (2011).

On at least two occasions the Court of Appeals has held that: "On appellate review, to sustain a finding in favor of the defendant-movant [vacating a default judgment], there must be substantial evidence in the record from which a rational trier of fact could have found the necessary facts by clear and convincing evidence." See, e.g., Koplitz, 186 Wash. App. 1012, at 8; Lakewest Condo. Owners Ass'n v. Tokio Marine, 156 Wash. App. 1016, No. 62852-6-I, at 5(June 1, 2010). The trial court is the trier of fact.

"[I]n determining a challenge based on an allegation that the defendant/judgment debtor was never served with the summons and complaint, the trial court must exercise its fact-finding responsibilities." *Tokio Marine*, 156 Wash. App. 1016, at *5. Appellate courts are simply "not in a position either to take evidence or to weigh contested evidence and make factual determinations." *State v. Walker*, 153 Wash.App. 701,

708, 224 P.3d 814 (2009). This is why appellate courts review issues of fact only for substantial evidence. *See Dodd v. Polack*, 63 Wash.2d 828, 829, 389 P.2d 289 (1964).

Twice again the Court of Appeals has held that, when the facts, like in the instant case, are disputed and unclear the trial court: "must enter the necessary factual findings to support its conclusion that the defendant has either proved by clear and convincing evidence that it was not properly served or has failed to so prove." Koplitz, 186 Wash.App. 1012, at *5; Tokio Marine, 156 Wash. App. 1016, at 5. This finding is essential to enable the Court of Appeals to: "review de novo the legal conclusion of whether the defendant has shown by clear and convincing evidence that the trial court lacked personal jurisdiction at the time the default judgment was entered." Koplitz, 186 Wash.App. 1012, at *5; Tokio Marine, 156 Wash. App. 1016, at 5.

Here, the trial court failed to make the necessary factual findings whether or not the Oakes either proved by clear and convincing evidence that they were not properly served or that they failed to so prove. Instead, the trial court focused solely on the Association's burden to show valid service. Had the trial court's inquiry been, whether the Oakes proved by clear and convincing evidence they were not served, the trial court would have found in the Oakes favor. The Oakes presented their individual

declarations, the Oakes both testified before the Court, and the Oakes pointed out severe contradictions in the process server's affidavit and testimony. Meanwhile, the Oakes' testimony was consistent and remained unchanged.

The issue on appeal before the Court of Appeals should have been whether there was substantial evidence before the trial court to support its conclusion that the Oakes either proved by clear and convincing evidence that they were not properly served or that they failed to so prove. That issue was not addressed by the trial court and could not be addressed by the Court of Appeals because the trial court failed to make the necessary factual findings allowing them to do so. The Oakes respectfully requests that this Court find that the Court of Appeals erred by finding the limited, cursory findings sufficient, and reverse the trial court's order denying the Oakes' Motion to Vacate.

B. The Trial Court Failed to Make the Required Findings to Deny a Motion to Vacate Under CR 60(b)(1).

In *White v. Holm*, 73 Wn.2d 348, 438 P.2d 581 (1968), the Washington Supreme Court established the governing principles for review of a motion to set aside a default judgment pursuant to CR 60(b)(1).

At the outset, we pause to note that a proceeding to vacate or set aside a default judgment, although not a suit in

equity, is equitable in its character, and the relief sought or afforded is to be administered in accordance with equitable principles and terms.

73 Wn.2d at 352, 438 P.2d at 584 (citing to *Roth v. Nash*, 19 Wash.2d 731, 144 P.2d 271 (1943)). Therefore, the Supreme Court cautioned courts as follows:

in passing upon an application which is not manifestly insufficient or groundless, should exercise its authority liberally, as well as equitably, to the end that substantial rights be preserved and justice between the parties be fairly and judiciously done.

73 Wn.2d at 352, 438 P.2d at 585 (citing *Hull v. Vining*, 17 Wash. 352, 49 P. 537 (1897). Despite the appellate court's abuse of discretion standard the *White* Court made clear that:

where the determination of the trial court results in the denial of a trial on the merits an abuse of discretion may be more readily found than in those instances where the default judgment is set aside and a trial on the merits ensues.

Id. Significantly, appellate courts are more likely to find an abuse of discretion when the trial court denies a motion to set aside a default judgment than when the trial court grants such a motion.

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