FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/5/2018 10:16 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

# Supreme Court No. 95256-6 Court of Appeals No. 75906-0-I

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GLENN and CINDY OAKES, a Washington State marital community,

Defendants/Appellants.

v.

THE SUMMIT HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington State non-profit corporation,

Plaintiff/Respondent;

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Allison N. Peryea, WSBA #39323 Leahy Fjelstad Peryea 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 820 Seattle, WA 98164 (206) 403-1933 allison.peryea@leahyps.com Counsel for Plaintiff/Respondent

# **

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

In the first case, *Lakewest Condo. Owners Ass'n v. Tokio Marine*, 156 Wn.App. 1016, 2010 WL 2178825 (Unpublished)(Div. 1, 2010), the trial court did not provide any findings of fact or conclusions of law "or otherwise articulate its reasoning for granting the motion" to vacate, either orally or in writing. *Id.* at 4. Specifically, the trial court in that case did not enter *any* factual finding that the party against whom the judgment was entered was not the entity actually served. *Id.* at 5. The *Lakewest* court also concluded that "there is nothing in the record from which we can conclude that the trial court believed this fact to be proved." *Id.* at 5.

In the second unpublished case, *Capital One Bank (USA), N.A. v. Koplitz*, 186 Wn. App. 1012, 2015 WL 893221 (Div. 1, 2015), the appellate court found that the lower court "did indeed" enter necessary factual findings with respect to whether substituted service was achieved. *Id.* at 4. The trial court had concluded that the defendant received adequate notice of the default hearing, finding that the summons was sent to the correct

address, and that the witness accounts in support of the motion to vacate were not credible. *Id.* The appellate court also noted that "it may be inferred that the trial court was similarly unpersuaded by [defendant's] own conflicting accounts of the events in question." *Id.* 

The trial court ruling in the instant case complies with the requirements regarding findings set forth in each of these cases. It factually mirrors the *Koplitz* case and bears no resemblance to the *Lakewest* facts. In the instant case and in the *Koplitz* case, both trial courts entered extensive findings supporting the conclusion that the defendant was properly served. In stark contrast to this case, there were no findings or conclusions whatsoever in the *Lakewest* case.

The Oakes appear to be conflating the issue of the moving party's burden of proof at the trial-court level with the issue of whether sufficient findings were provided to reach the conclusion on whether that burden was met. The trial court's extensive oral findings in the instant case document provide ample detail that the trial court did not find that the Oakes' met their burden of proof. The court specifically found: "[W]eighing the credibility of the evidence,...in fact you [Mr. Oakes] were served with a copy of the summons and complaint." RP (9.9.16) 49-50. This finding necessarily confirms that the trial court found that the Oakes failed to meet their burden of proof. The oral findings also detail the facts underlying that decision, and

affirm that the trial court found Mr. Stout's description of events to be more credible. Indeed, the court specifically concluded:

It is my finding that in fact [service] happened, that [Mr. Stout] identified himself as a process server, said he had legal papers for you, tried to give you the legal papers...and that he left the legal papers [on-site]. It just doesn't make any sense that he came, asked you who you were, tried to give you the papers, and then left without posting those papers somewhere. Id.

The foregoing findings certainly provide an adequate record documenting the facts upon which the trial court relied to determine that the Oakes failed to meet their burden of proof. The Oakes' argument is simply another attempt by the Oakes to dispute the trial court's conclusion that their evidence was not found to be credible.

# B. The Appellate Court Properly Concluded that the Trial Court Provided Sufficient Findings Regarding Whether to Vacate the Judgment Under CR 60(b)(1).

The Oakes similarly argue that the trial court did not make the required findings necessary to deny their motion under CR 60(b)(1). *Pet. at* 12. Pursuant to CR 60(b)(1), the court has discretion to relieve a party from a final judgment on the grounds of mistakes, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect or irregularity in obtaining a judgment or order. The motion must also be made within a reasonable time not more than one year after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken. CR 60(b).

The *White* court held that the trial court's discretion to set aside a default judgment is based on consideration of four factors:

- (1) There is substantial evidence to support, at least prima facie, a defense to the claim asserted by the opposing party;
- (2) The moving party's failure to timely appear in the action, and answer the opponent's claim, was occasioned by mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect;
- (3) That the moving party acted with due diligence after notice of entry of the default judgment; and
- (4) That no substantial hardship will result to the opposing party. White, 73 Wn.2d at 352.

Per *White*, "the first two are the major elements to be demonstrated by the moving party, and they, coupled with the secondary factors, vary in dispositive significance as the circumstances of the particular case dictate." *Id.* Further, the Court of Appeals will not relieve a defendant of a judgment taken against him due to his willful disregard of process, or due to his inattention or neglect where there has been no more than a *prima facie* showing of a defense on the merits. *Commercial Courier Service, Inc. v. Miller*, 13 Wn.App. 98, 106, 533 P.2d 852 (Div. 1, 1975).

CR 60(b) makes the question of the timeliness of a motion to vacate analytically distinct from the reasons for which relief from a judgment may

be granted. *Luckett v Boeing Co.*, 98 Wn.App. 307, 314-15, 989 P.2d 1144 (Div. 1, 1999). Accordingly, "the *White* factors are most appropriately applied not to the question of timeliness but rather to determining whether sufficient grounds exist for vacating a judgment under CR 60(b)(1)." *Id.* 

Here, the trial court provided findings regarding diligence, confirming that it did not believe the Oakes timely filed their motion. Accordingly, per *Luckett*, her analysis could have ended there. However, she additionally addressed the *White* factors, including: 1) whether the Oakes acted with due diligence after notice of entry of the default judgment; 2) whether the failure to timely appear in the action and answer the opponents claim was "occasioned by mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect"; and 3) whether the Oakes had a meritorious defense.

Addressing the due diligence factor, the trial court found "there wasn't really reasonable diligence to get the order...of default set aside and the default judgment set aside." RP (9.9.16) 50-51. This finding was based on the several facts as determined by the court: there was a protracted history of issues concerning the Oakes' property that the Oakes were long aware of; the Oakes had in fact been properly served 13.5 months before they moved to vacate; they had received and signed for a letter providing notice and a copy of the default judgment 8.5 months before moving to

vacate; and also admitted they were served with documents notifying them about the judgment 4.5 months before moving to vacate. *Id*.

Further, the court implicitly determined based on the findings above that the Oakes did not timely appear in the case due to mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect. This is particularly apparent given that: 1) their reason proffered for delay was based on the failed argument that they were never properly served; and 2) Mr. Oakes admitted that he had signed the certified receipt for the copy of the default judgment in October 2015. Indeed, the court specifically noted that "the one thing that is clear was this was not out of the blue." RP (9.9.16) 50.

The court further determined that the Oakes did not make a *prima* facie showing of a defense on the merits, concluding: "And in terms of the paperwork and the motion, I'm not finding a meritorious defense to the fact that the money was owed and the fees were incurred..." RP (9.9.16) 51.

The Oakes take issue with the fact that the court did not specifically state on the record that it was considering the Oakes' evidence concerning its defenses in the light most favorable to the Oakes. But they cite no authority indicating that this explicit statement is somehow required. In the meantime, given that the trial court determined at the outset that the Oakes did not timely file, it technically had no obligation to reach and address the *White* factors. *See Luckett*, 98 Wn.App. 314-15.

C. The Appellate Court Could Properly Rely on a Lack of Due Diligence As the Sole Ground for Denying the Motion to Vacate and Had Sufficient Trial-Court Findings and Evidence To Do So.

The Oakes appear to argue that the Appellate Court could not rely on the trial court's finding of a lack of due diligence alone to justify a denial of the Oakes' motion. *Pet. at 17*. But the *Luckett* court found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion for refusing to excuse a lack of due diligence simply and solely "where no valid reason for delay was offered." *Id. at 314*. Here, again, the Oakes provided no good reason for the delay. Further, as noted above, the trial court's finding on "reasonable diligence" in the filing of the Oakes' motion was pertinent not just to the *White* factors but also to timeliness, which as the *Luckett* court pointed out involves a separate analysis.

The Oakes argue that the Court of Appeals' ruling was flawed because the trial court "did not make a determination of when the Oakes were both made aware of the Default Judgment (not the complaint)." *Pet. at 17*. This argument is based on the Oakes' argument that they were both not made aware of the default judgment until they were served with a collections action on the judgment in March 2016. But even if that argument were hypothetically correct, the trial court did find that they still waited 4.5 months to file their motion after that second service, which a court may

determine is a sufficient delay to justify denying a motion to vacate when no good cause for the delay is shown.

Washington courts have repeatedly upheld denials of a motion to vacate with a shorter time span between receiving notice of a judgment or order and moving to vacate than occurred here. *See, e.g., In re Estate of Stevens*, 94 Wn.App. 20, 35, 971 P.2d 58 (Div. 2, 1999) (Court upheld findings of no due diligence when a party did nothing to set aside an order of default until almost three months after its entry); *Luckett*, 98 Wn.App. at 313 (No abuse of discretion when plaintiff's counsel waited four months after learning of dismissal to move to vacate without any valid excuse given).

# D. The Oakes Are Not Entitled to Special Consideration Due to Their Decision to Represent Themselves.

The Oakes argue they are entitled to some sort of special treatment because they chose to represent themselves until their appeal was denied. *Pet. at 19.* The Oakes are not entitled to such special treatment, especially under the circumstances of this particular case. In this state, when undertaking the role of a lawyer, a *pro se* litigant assumes the duties and responsibilities and is accountable to the same standards of ethics and legal knowledge. *Batten v. Abrams*, 28 Wn.App. 737, 739 n.1, 626 P.2d 984 (Div. 3, 1981); See also Edwards v. Le Duc, 157 Wn.App. 455, 460, 238 P.3d

1187 (Div. 2) ("A trial court must hold *pro se* parties to the same standards to which it holds attorneys."). Pro se litigants are also bound by the same rules of procedure and substantive law as attorneys. *Westberg v. All-Purpose Structures Inc.*, 86 Wn.App. 405, 411, 936 P.2d 1175 (Div. 2, 1997).

In fact, courts can abuse their discretion by providing *pro se* parties with special consideration. In *Edwards*, the appellate court found that the lower court overstepped the bounds of impartiality by repeatedly assisting a pro se, brain-injured motorist during the trial of her personal injury action; accordingly the trial court abused its discretion by denying the defendant's motion for a new trial. *Edwards*, 157 Wn.App at 460-61.

The legal support cited by the Oakes further does not support their position that their *pro se* status should have been considered in either the trial court's or appellate court's analyses. In the *White* case, the court simply noted that the movant had relied in good faith on the assurance of his insurance against that the insurer would be providing a defense. *White*, 73 Wn. 2d at 354-355. The Oakes also inaccurately claim *Haines v. Kerner*, 404 U.S. 519 (2012), supports the premise that *pro se* parties are provided "extra leeway in meeting the procedural rules governing litigation, and trial judges must make some effort to protect a party so appearing from waiving a right to be heard because of his or her lack of legal knowledge." *Pet. at* 

19. In *Haines*, the Court simply held that the allegations of a *pro se* complaint are held to "less stringent standards than formal pleadings drafted by lawyers." *Id.* at 520-21. Pleading sufficiency is not an issue here. *Enron Oil Corp, v. Diakuhara*, also cited by the Oakes for the same premise, sets forth a legal doctrine that, based on the extensive binding citations above, has not been adopted by our state courts. *Id.*, 10 F.3d 90 (2d Cir., 1993).

Most importantly, the Oakes were never denied a right to be heard or found to have violated procedural rules during the litigation process. To the contrary, their extensive briefing indicates that the Oakes or someone assisting the Oakes was certainly capable of drafting legal briefing and arguing and supporting a case.

# VI. REQUEST FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS

The Association requests that the Court award it reasonable attorneys' fees and costs incurred in responding to the Oakes' Petition for Review as required under the Association Declaration. The Declaration entitles the Association to reasonable attorneys' fees and costs with respect to both enforcement and collection matters. At this point, the instant case started out as a covenant enforcement matter and has evolved into both a covenant-enforcement and assessment-collection matter.

Per Section 10.4.2, the Board, acting as the Hearing Board for enforcement matters, may require a non-prevailing party to reimburse the

Association for its costs, "including reasonable attorneys' fees," incurred in connection with the violation. CP 80.

#### Per Section 10.5:

In any judicial action to enforce compliance with the Governing Documents or a Board Decision, the prevailing party, including the Association, shall be entitled to recover from the non-prevailing party, whether or not the action proceeds to judgment, its costs and a reasonable sum for attorneys' fees incurred in connection with the action, in addition to taxable costs permitted by law. CP 81.

Per Section 4.10, the Association is entitled to recover any costs and reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in connection with the collection of delinquent Assessments. Section 4.10 also expressly entitles the prevailing party in an action to recover costs and reasonable attorneys' fees on appeal and in the enforcement of a judgment.

Finally, per Section 4.14, in any action to foreclose a lien for nonpayment of delinquent Assessments, any judgment rendered against the Owner of the Lot must include "a reasonable sum for attorneys' fees and all costs and expenses reasonably incurred in preparation for or in the prosecution of the action in addition to taxable costs permitted by law."

### VII. CONCLUSION

No justification exists for the Court to grant review under RAP 13.4(b). The Oakes present no conflict of law—based on persuasive or binding authority—arising from the Court of Appeal's decision in this

matter. As determined by that court, the trial court provided sufficient

findings and had sufficient grounds to deny the motion to vacate. And

neither the trial court nor the appellate court had an obligation to put a

thumb on the scales for the Oakes because they chose to represent

themselves. Accordingly, because the appellate decision complied with

existing law, there is certainly no issue of public interest involved in this

matter. Even if there was hypothetically a conflict, the case is unpublished

and accordingly is not binding authority. Ultimately, this is just a case about

petitioners who refuse to accept court decisions when those decisions do not

favor them.

The respondents respectfully request that this Court deny review of

the Court of Appeals decision.